

Learning and development standards for preregistration education and early career occupational therapists

June 2025



Contents

Contents	.2
The Standards' layout	3
Learning and development standards for pre-registration education and early career occupational therapists	.4
Scope 1: Level of award for entry into the profession	.4
Scope 2: Programme admissions	.5
Scope 3: Programme governance, management and leadership	.7
Scope 4: Programme design and delivery1	10
Scope 5: Practice-based learning1	14
Scope 6: Assessment 1	17
Scope 7: Early career support1	19
Definitions and terminology2	
Reference list	29
Bibliography	31



The Standards' layout

We want our Learning and development standards for pre-registration education and early career occupational therapists (referred to as 'the Standards' to be straightforward to read and understand. To achieve that, we have made a couple of changes to how they are presented.

- The theme of each group of standards is now called **Scope** (previously Domain).
- There are then one or more **standards** relevant to the Scope (shown in a blue box with white text).
- Lastly, there are **Supporting standards**, which provide more detail relevant to the overarching standard (shown in the text boxes below the standard).

Scope 7, Early career support, is a new scope. This has six standards, each having a different theme. Before the details of each standard, we have highlighted the theme in teal.

Further **Guidance**, evidence and requirements will be provided in a separate document, relevant to each standard. This details what we are wanting to 'see' to have confidence that the standard has been met. This change means we can proactively update the guidance, evidence and requirements, ensuring the Standards can be applied in a contemporary context.

A list of definitions and terminology, references and bibliography has also been provided.



Learning and development standards for pre-registration education and early career occupational therapists

Scope 1: Level of award for entry into the profession

Standard 1.1 To be eligible to join the HCPC register and in line with WFOT requirements, learners successfully complete a minimum of a Bachelor's degree with honours.	
1.1.1	 Programme documentation states graduate eligibility to apply for registration as an occupational therapist with the HCPC and for professional membership with RCOT, those who have completed a programme at one of the following award levels: Bachelor's degree with honours Post-graduate diploma Master's degree Doctorate.



Scope 2: Programme admissions

The ad the edu	Standard 2.1 The admissions process is inclusive, transparent and supportive, ensuring both the applicant and the education provider have the information they require to make an informed choice about taking up or making an offer of a place on a programme.		
2.1.1	There is accessible and inclusive information available to applicants about the values, responsibilities and professional expectations of being an occupational therapist, enabling them to make an informed decision about whether the profession is the right fit for them.		
2.1.2	There is clear information about the academic, practice-based learning and assessment requirements of the programme accessible to applicants, enabling them to make an informed decision about whether the programme is the right fit for them.		
Standa The se	rd 2.2 lection and entry criteria include appropriate academic and professional entry standards.		
2.2.1	The admissions process reflects the professional conduct, performance and ethics consistent with RCOT Professional standards (RCOT, 2021b).		
2.2.2	Academic entry requirements are clearly defined, inclusive of a range of qualifications and proportionate to the nature and demands of the programme.		
2.2.3	Applicants offered a place in an apprenticeship programme meet the clearly communicated needs, expectations and criteria of the employer, education provider and the profession.		
2.2.4	A foundation programme designed as an entry route to an occupational therapy programme is a coherent programme of study in its own right and clearly demonstrates relevance to the learning outcomes of the occupational therapy programme.		
2.2.5	Where a generic foundation programme is used as an entry route to an occupational therapy programme, the applicant still undergoes the admissions process and will be subject to the standard recognition of prior learning requirements for that programme.		
Standa The ad English	missions process ensures that applicants are proficient in written and conversational		
2.3.1	Applicants are informed of the English language expectations required to engage with and complete the academic and practice-based components of the programme.		
2.3.2	Applicants are required to demonstrate proficiency in written and spoken English at a level appropriate for academic study.		
Standard 2.4 The admissions process assesses the suitability of applicants, including criminal conviction checks.			
2.4.1	The admissions process ensures applicants offered a place in the programme demonstrate personal and professional attributes required for safe and effective occupational therapy practice.		
2.4.2	An occupational therapist employed by the education provider is designated as the Admissions Tutor, holding overall responsibility for the admission of suitable applicants to the programme.		

Standard 2.5 The admissions process ensures that applicants are made aware of, and comply with, any health requirements.			
2.5.1	Applicants offered a place are informed of the health requirements of the programme, including (but not limited to) occupational health clearance and immunisations.		
2.5.2	Applicants are required to meet the health requirements of the programme, with reasonable adjustments in place where needed.		
2.5.3	Where health related requirements are disclosed, the education provider works collaboratively with the applicant to identify reasonable adjustments that support equitable access to the programme.		
Standa There i experie	s a transparent, fair and supportive process for assessing applicants' prior learning and		
2.6.1	Recognition of prior learning is offered to all learners and is fair and transparent and involves reasonable academic judgement.		
2.6.2	Applicants are supported by the education provider through the application process for recognition of prior learning.		
The ad	Standard 2.7 The admissions process is guided by principles of equity, diversity and belonging and conducted through inclusive and fair practices that holistically assess applicants' potential.		
2.7.1	Admissions criteria and processes are designed to evaluate a broad spectrum of applicant qualities, including academic achievements, relevant experience, personal attributes and potential to contribute to the occupational therapy profession.		
2.7.2	Everyone involved in admissions receives role-appropriate training and support, informed by equity, diversity and belonging principles, to ensure inclusive and equitable decision making, including the recognition and mitigation of bias.		
2.7.3	Education providers ensure that everyone involved in admissions demonstrates inclusive behaviours, an understanding of equity, diversity and belonging principles, and is committed to anti-discriminatory and anti-oppressive practice.		
2.7.4	Education providers have a process in place that ensures they respond appropriately and offer reasonable adjustments when an applicant discloses a disability or specific learning need during the application process.		
2.7.5	Admissions data is regularly monitored, reviewed and acted on to ensure processes reflect the professional values of fairness, transparency and accountability, promoting equitable access for all applicants.		



Scope 3: Programme governance, management and leadership

Standard 3.1 The programme is sustainable.	
3.1.1	Learners are offered a programme that has the commitment of the education provider to be sufficiently resourced throughout the accredited period.
3.1.2	Sustainability principles including social, environmental and economic dimensions are explicit in programme design, delivery, staffing, resource use and stakeholder collaboration.
Standa The pro	rd 3.2 ogramme is effectively managed.
3.2.1	All learners are offered the same quality of education and equitable opportunities for learning, regardless of the mode of delivery or type of award.
3.2.2	The roles, responsibilities and expectations of the education provider and learner (and employer, in the case of apprenticeship programmes) are upheld.
Standa	
	ucation provider ensures those holding overall professional responsibility for the nme are appropriately qualified and experienced.
3.3.1	The occupational therapy-specific suite of programmes is led by an occupational therapist in the role of Professional Lead (see definition).
3.3.2	Each programme offered by the education provider is led by an occupational therapist in the role of Programme Lead (see definition).
Standa	
The pro	ogramme has regular and effective monitoring and evaluation systems in place.
3.4.1	The quality monitoring and enhancement processes outlined by the education provider consider the rigour and integrity of the programme, regularly enabling continuous development.
3.4.2	Evaluation processes include feedback from learners, graduates, educators, practice educators, people who access occupational therapy and employers, and are used by education providers to inform continuous improvement.
Standa	rd 3.5
	who access occupational therapy services are meaningfully involved in the development, ement and delivery of the programme.
3.5.1	People who access occupational therapy services are meaningfully involved in the deliberative and decision-making processes related to admissions, curriculum design and delivery, practice-based learning and ongoing programme review.
Standard 3.6 Learners are meaningfully and actively involved in the development and enhancement of the programme.	
3.6.1	Clear processes are in place for learner representation at programme level.
3.6.2	Learners are meaningfully and actively involved in collaborating with the education provider and providing feedback that informs decision making across admissions, curriculum design and delivery, practice-based learning and ongoing programme review. Graduates may also contribute to these processes where appropriate.



Standard 3.7 There are an adequate number of appropriately qualified and experienced staff in place to deliver the programme.	
3.7.1	Qualified and experienced educators, practice educators and administration and support staff adequately support learners to undertake all elements of the programme.
3.7.2	The number of learners is in proportion with the number of appropriately qualified and experienced educators, with a ratio of one learner to a maximum of twenty qualified and experienced educators.
3.7.3	The diversity of the educators and practice educators aligns with the philosophy and purpose of the programme.
3.7.4	Education provider's policies and processes support the wellbeing of educators.
Standa Subject	rd 3.8 areas are delivered by educators with relevant specialist knowledge and expertise.
3.8.1	Educators demonstrate appropriate knowledge and expertise for delivering curriculum content covering the four pillars of the RCOT Career Development Framework (RCOT, 2021a).
3.8.2	Educators and practice educators use local and global knowledge of occupational therapy, health, disability, society and education to support learners.
3.8.3	Occupational therapy-specific knowledge and skills are delivered by occupational therapists.
of educ	ctive strategy is in place to ensure the continuing professional and academic development ators, appropriate to their roles in the programme.
3.9.1	Workload allocation and planning reflects the breadth of the educator role, supporting engagement in teaching, scholarship and/or research, while also accommodating associated administrative responsibilities.
3.9.2	The design and delivery of a contemporary and evidence-based curriculum is directly impacted by the continuing professional development (CPD) and lifelong learning activities that educators engage in.
3.9.3	Educators are supported to actively engage in scholarship and/or research that directly influences the programme and the profession.
3.9.4	Processes are in place demonstrating the education provider's commitment to supporting the wellbeing of educators.
	rd 3.10 ources to support learning in all settings are effective and appropriate to the delivery of the nme and are accessible and inclusive for all learners and educators.
3.10.1	Resources fit well with the philosophy and purpose of the programme.
3.10.2	Facilities, equipment and resources are accessible, well maintained and fit for purpose, supporting the achievement of learning outcomes and fostering inclusivity and a sense of belonging within the learning environment.
3.10.3	Learning materials, resources and activities are accessible and inclusive, reflecting the diverse learning needs of both learners and educators.



There a	Standard 3.11 There are effective, accessible and inclusive arrangements in place to support learner wellbeing, learning needs and development of agency of learners across all settings.		
3.11.1	Learners are supported to develop agency in managing their own health and wellbeing, through curriculum content and learning opportunities that promote self-awareness, self-management and reflection.		
3.11.2	Each learner is allocated a named Tutor responsible for providing general academic advice, mentoring and support for professional development, wellbeing and agency.		
3.11.3	Learners are aware of, and have access to, support services provided by the education provider.		
	es of equity, diversity and belonging are embedded in all aspects of programme design, and review, supporting inclusive learning, and anti-oppressive and anti-discriminatory		
3.12.1	Equity, diversity and belonging principles are clear, transparent and demonstrated throughout the programme.		
3.12.2	Educators and practice educators demonstrate the skills, values and commitment to support inclusive learning and challenge oppression, contributing to a more participatory and equitable society.		
Standard 3.13 There are thorough and effective processes in place for ensuring the ongoing suitability of learners' conduct, character and health.			
3.13.1	The learning strategy and methods assure fitness for the profession.		
3.13.2	Future employers are confident that graduates are fit for the profession and for employment and enter the workforce as autonomous yet novice practitioners, irrespective of the level of their qualification.		
3.13.3	Learners are supported to develop and maintain the personal and professional attributes suitable for practice as an occupational therapist.		
Standard 3.14 The education provider ensures learners, educators and others are aware that only successful completion of an approved programme leads to eligibility for admission to the HCPC Register.			
3.14.1	Programme documentation contains clear information about step-off or exit awards and whether these provide eligibility to apply for registration as an occupational therapist.		
3.14.2	Learners are provided with information about RCOT membership, including its purpose and the benefits of joining the professional body.		



Scope 4: Programme design and delivery

Standard 4.1 Programme learning outcomes ensure learners meet the Standards of proficiency (HCPC, 2023a) for the relevant part of the HCPC register and uphold professional conduct, performance and ethics, consistent with RCOT Professional standards (RCOT, 2021b).	
	Learning outcomes ensure learners understand and meet the HCPC standards of proficiency (HCPC, 2023a) by the end of the programme.
	Learning outcomes are shaped by RCOT's Professional standards (RCOT, 2021b), reflecting the behaviours and values learners are responsible for upholding.
	Learning outcomes ensure learners understand and meet RCOT Professional standards (RCOT, 2021b).
	The programme is of sufficient duration to ensure learners are fully prepared and fit for the profession, with a minimum of 90 active learning weeks.
	l 4.2 ramme places occupation at its core, reflecting the profession's philosophy, values, skills vledge base.
	The core principles of occupational therapy and occupation-centred practice are embedded throughout the programme.
1	Learners develop the skills to identify and address occupational challenges stemming from inequality, discrimination and human rights issues. Using an occupational justice lens, learners are prepared to advocate for inclusivity and support the empowerment of diverse individuals, communities and populations locally and internationally.
	Learners develop an occupational perspective that integrates approaches focused on prevention, early intervention and community engagement as essential elements of professional practice.
:	Learners are supported to draw on knowledge of medical conditions, foundational sciences, the use of the self as therapeutic agents in creating relationships and identifying motivating elements of people who use occupational therapy services, using occupation as the vehicle for intervention.
4.2.5	 The programme prepares learners to: maintain occupation-centred practice deliver safe, effective, person-centred and ethical practice use professional judgement and evidence-based critical reasoning to make decisions.
4.2.6	 The programme prepares learners to: teach, mentor, supervise and assess others facilitate practice-based learning access, develop and evaluate contemporary practice and learning environments, methods, tools and materials.
4.2.7	 The programme prepares learners to: enhance their own and others' knowledge, skills and critical thinking lead, guide and facilitate effective teamwork influence, design and implement professional or organisational change.
4.2.8	The programme provides learners with the skills to:



	 access, evaluate and apply evidence to inform practice initiate, design, conduct and disseminate research to advance the profession be innovators, driving inclusive change through advocacy and occupational justice engage with and influence broader socio-economic and political agendas relevant to occupational therapy.
Standa The cu	rd 4.3 rriculum remains relevant to contemporary occupational therapy practice.
4.3.1	Learners are prepared to enter the profession with the skills and knowledge reflected in the evidence base, to meet the current and future needs of people who access occupational therapy services.
4.3.2	Learners develop their knowledge of current and predicted health and wellbeing needs and associated occupations relevant to local, national and international communities.
4.3.3	Learners integrate data on social, economic, organisational, environmental and health disparities to design and prioritise occupational therapy services, promoting occupational justice.
4.3.4	Learners identify professional and policy influences on occupational therapy and are prepared to actively participate in shaping the profession's future, informed by the priorities of the RCOT Workforce Strategy (RCOT, 2024b).
4.3.5	Learners develop the skills to be entrepreneurial and innovative.
4.3.6	Learners develop digital literacy skills to effectively navigate and utilise emerging digital technological advancements, including artificial intelligence, in occupational therapy practice, to drive progress and change.
Standa The inte prograr	egration of theory, evidence and practice underpins the quality and delivery of the
4.4.1	The integrity of the curriculum is reflected in the integration of theory, evidence and practice across both academic and practice-based elements, ensuring its currency and breadth.
	rd 4.5 rriculum supports learners in developing research and innovation skills, aligned with the nic level of their programme.
4.5.1	Learners develop research skills, including both quantitative and qualitative methods, and are prepared to apply these skills in research, evaluation, quality improvement, practice and innovation projects aligned with their academic level.
4.5.2	Learners develop the critical analysis and synthesis skills necessary to collect and interpret data, using research and real-world evidence to apply outcome measures and evaluate the impact of occupational therapy.
4.5.3	Learners develop an understanding of research ethics and governance principles, applying them in research and practice to evaluate the impact of occupational therapy.
4.5.4	Learners develop skills to meaningfully involve people who access occupational therapy services in the design and conduct of research and service improvement.



Standard 4.6 The learning and teaching methods used are appropriate to the effective delivery of the			
	programme and module learning outcomes.		
4.6.1	Learning and teaching approaches are evidence-informed, drawing on contemporary educational theories to ensure effective alignment with curriculum models.		
4.6.2	Learning and teaching methods use a range of techniques and technologies to meet the needs of learners.		
4.6.3	There is a process to ensure learners are prepared for and supported through each transition point in the programme, with a clear understanding of all associated expectations.		
4.6.4	Learners are provided with details of the learning and teaching methods.		
Standa Prograr	rd 4.7 nme delivery supports learners to be autonomous, reflective and critical thinkers.		
4.7.1	Learning and teaching methods prepare learners for autonomous practice, encouraging independent thinking, accountability and decision making.		
4.7.2	Learning and teaching methods embed reflective practice as a core component of professional development.		
4.7.3	Learning and teaching methods are designed to develop critical thinking and decision- making skills, enhancing learners' ability to navigate complex professional situations.		
The pro	Standard 4.8 The programme facilitates interprofessional learning, ensuring learners gain knowledge with, from and about professionals and peers from relevant professions.		
4.8.1	Interprofessional learning across health, wellbeing, social and integrated care systems is embedded in academic and practice-based learning to develop the knowledge, skills and professional conduct essential for collaborative practice.		
4.8.2	Interprofessional learning is a productive and relevant educational experience for all learners.		
4.8.3	Occupational therapy educators collaborate equally with educators from other relevant professions to define the scope and develop educational materials for interprofessional learning.		
4.8.4	Interprofessional learning will constitute no more than one third of the programme.		
Standard 4.9 The protection of people is a guiding principle of the programme.			
4.9.1	The programme includes effective processes for obtaining consent when appropriate, including from people accessing occupational therapy.		
4.9.2	The programme includes effective processes to empower and support learners to raise concerns about the safety and wellbeing of people who access occupational therapy and others.		
4.9.3	The programme includes effective processes to empower and support learners to raise concerns about their own safety and wellbeing.		



Standard 4.10 The programme supports learners' progression through clear requirements for assessment completion and attendance, providing individualised support when necessary.	
4.10.1	The education provider clearly identifies and communicates to learners the parts of the programme where attendance is mandatory and establishes monitoring processes to track attendance.
4.10.2	All summative assessments within the programme are successfully completed.
4.10.3	Education providers have a system in place to establish an individual scheme of study for learners who have been unable to complete, or have failed, a mandatory assessment, but are eligible to attempt it again and continue with the programme.



Scope 5: Practice-based learning

	Standard 5.1	
Practice-based learning is integral to the programme.		
5.1.1	Practice-based learning facilitates the learner's formation of their professional identity as an occupational therapist and develops learners to meet professional conduct, performance and ethics, consistent with RCOT Professional standards (RCOT, 2021b).	
learning	rd 5.2 ucture, duration and range of practice-based learning supports the achievement of the g outcomes, the HCPC Standards of proficiency (HCPC, 2023a) and is informed by the inciples of practice-based learning (CSP, 2023).	
5.2.1	 Learners successfully complete a minimum of 1,000 assessed hours of practice-based learning mandated by WFOT (2016), to become work-ready graduates. This may include: a maximum of 20% of the programme's total practice-based learning hours completed through assessed simulation. hours recognised as prior learning. a maximum of 3.5 hours per week of self-directed study relevant to practice-based learning (or the pro rata equivalent for part-time learners). 	
5.2.2	Through practice-based learning, the learner has the opportunity to experience or implement the occupational therapy process and gain wider knowledge of service provision.	
5.2.3	Practice-based learning follows a scaffolded structure that supports the integration of theoretical knowledge and skills into contemporary, occupation-centred practice.	
5.2.4	For learners in apprenticeship programmes, practice-based learning is undertaken outside the learner's own work setting, ideally outside their employer's organisation.	
5.2.5	Learners are provided with a range of practice-based learning experiences across the breadth and diversity of occupational therapy practice, enabling them to develop a comprehensive understanding of contemporary occupational therapy practice.	
	rd 5.3 e-based learning takes place in an environment that is safe and supportive for learners ople who access occupational therapy services.	
5.3.1	Supervision models within practice-based learning are flexible, inclusive and tailored to the practice-based learning setting.	
5.3.2	Practice educators have completed relevant training preparing them to inclusively support learners undertaking practice-based learning.	
5.3.3	The education provider has administrative support in place for the organisation and management of practice-based learning, which includes support for both learners and practice educators.	
5.3.4	Education providers have systems in place to support learners, educators, practice educators (and employers and work-based mentors in the case of apprenticeship programmes) at all times, but particularly in circumstances where learners are failing to reach the required learning outcomes or demonstrate fitness for the profession.	
5.3.5	Processes demonstrate how education providers, practice-based learning providers and learners share responsibility for creating inclusive, anti-discriminatory and anti-	



	oppressive environments where learners feel safe, valued, supported and a sense of belonging.
5.3.6	Education providers and practice-based learning providers ensure that reasonable adjustments are identified, implemented and regularly reviewed to enable learners to fully engage in practice-based learning.
	rd 5.4 rative partnerships are in place to ensure quality, breadth and capacity of practice-based g opportunities for all learners.
5.4.1	An occupational therapist employed by the education provider has overall responsibility for the development, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of practice-based learning within the programme and ensures that each learner gains the required breadth of experience.
5.4.2	Education providers work in partnership with practice-based learning providers to ensure capacity and quality across a range of settings that reflect the breadth of the profession.
5.4.3	Practice-based learning is supported by sufficient registered and experienced staff to provide learners with the opportunity to meet the practice-based learning requirements.
Standa Practic learning	e educators have relevant knowledge, skills and experience to support safe and effective
5.5.1	Practice educators are adequately prepared and supported to facilitate practice-based learning across all routes to registration and the diverse needs of learners.
5.5.2	Education providers work in partnership with practice-based learning providers to enable practice educators to teach, assess and support learners effectively.
	e educators engage in regular CPD to ensure their knowledge and skills remain porary and aligned with learners' needs and the delivery of the learning outcomes of the
5.6.1	Education providers work in partnership with practice-based learning providers to ensure practice educators' CPD meaningfully informs the design and delivery of contemporary practice-based learning.
	rd 5.7 rs and practice educators are provided with timely information and supported to prepare ely for practice-based learning.
5.7.1	There is a clear and inclusive induction to all practice-based learning that prepares learners and defines the roles and responsibilities of the practice-based learning provider education provider, practice educators and learners.
5.7.2	There is a system in place to ensure learners have completed the training required by the specific practice-based learning provider, prior to commencing in their setting.



Standard 5.8 Learners are supported by practice educators and the education provider to reflect on, and learn from, each of their practice-based learning experiences.		
5.8.1	There is a system in place for learners to engage in structured debriefing at the end of each practice-based learning experience, offering space for reflection and consolidation of learning.	
5.8.2	Education providers support learners to integrate and transfer knowledge and skills gained during practice-based learning across different settings, promoting progressive development throughout the programme.	



Scope 6: Assessment

Standard 6.1 The assessment strategy and design ensure that those who successfully complete the programme meet the RCOT Professional standards (RCOT, 2021b).			
6.1.1	The assessment strategy and methods ensure that graduates meet the RCOT Professional standards (RCOT, 2021b) by the end of the programme.		
Standa Assess achieve	ments provide an objective, fair and reliable measure of learners' progression and		
6.2.1	The assessment strategy and methods provide an objective, fair and reliable measure of achievement, aligned to the academic level of the programme.		
6.2.2	Learners are provided with timely and clear information about assessment strategies and methods, including expectations at each academic level of the programme.		
6.2.3	The assessment strategy and methods take an inclusive and robust approach, to ensure learners demonstrate knowledge, skills and professional behaviours required for practice.		
Standa Assess prograi	ment policies clearly specify requirements for progression and achievement within the		
6.3.1	Learners who fail a practice-based learning component on substantiated grounds of fitness to practise concerns are denied a retrieval attempt.		
6.3.2	Hours completed within a failed practice-based learning component do not count towards the minimum of 1,000 successfully completed practice-based learning hours mandated by WFOT (2016).		
6.3.3	Learners are withdrawn from a programme if they fail their second attempt at any practice-based learning component.		
6.3.4	Documentation identifies that when a learner is unable to complete the programme due to exceptional circumstances, such as serious illness or death, an Aegrotat award without classification can be given. This is awarded when there is sufficient evidence that the learner would otherwise have achieved all learning outcomes of the programme. This award does not lead to eligibility to apply for registration as an occupational therapist.		
Standa The as outcom	sessment methods used are appropriate to, and effective at, measuring the learning		
6.4.1	The assessment methods utilise a range of techniques and technologies to address the teaching and learning needs of the learners.		
6.4.2	The assessment methods support the development of knowledge, skills and professional conduct and are congruent with the educational aims and learning outcomes of the programme, preparing learners for contemporary practice.		
6.4.3	Learners are expected to meet all specified learning outcomes to achieve a pass in each assessment component.		



Standard 6.5 There is a process in place for learners to make academic appeals.		
6.5.1	Learners are provided with sufficient information about the process to follow when making an academic appeal.	
Standard 6.6 The education provider ensures that at least one external examiner for the programme is appropriately qualified and experienced.		
6.6.1	An external examiner has oversight of, and access to, all components of the award.	



Scope 7: Early career support

Establ	shing a sense of belonging and inclusion	
Standard 7.1 Employers create inclusive and supportive environments that foster a sense of belonging for early career occupational therapists, enabling them to feel welcomed, connected and valued as they begin their professional journey.		
7.1.1	A culture of inclusion is actively promoted through team engagement, anti-discriminatory and anti-oppressive practice, use of inclusive language and recognition of diverse backgrounds and lived experiences.	
7.1.2	Induction processes support integration into the team, profession and wider service, with emphasis on occupational therapy identity and values.	
7.1.3	Employers facilitate access to peer support networks, both locally and nationally, including early career communities and occupational therapy- specific groups.	
7.1.4	Employers recognise each early career occupational therapist as an individual and adjust levels of responsibility, autonomy and support to match their skills, experience and learning needs.	
Struct	ired supervision and support	
Standard 7.2 Employers ensure that early career occupational therapists have access to consistent, structured supervision that supports their transition into autonomous, safe and confident practice.		
7.2.1	Early career occupational therapists receive protected, regular and structured supervision from an occupational therapist, aligned with RCOT supervision guidance (RCOT, 2015) and HCPC Standards of proficiency (HCPC, 2023a), as part of a tailored support programme that promotes safe, confident and autonomous practice.	
7.2.2	Early career occupational therapists are supported to safely and independently manage a caseload through focused supervision and structured guidance as they adjust to the demands of autonomous decision making.	
7.2.3	Supervision includes space for reflective practice, feedback and discussion of confidence, challenges, professional growth and identity, including ongoing career conversations about development, engagement and long term retention.	
7.2.4	Supervision arrangements and expectations are clearly communicated from the outset of employment.	
7.2.5	Employers ensure that individuals providing supervision to early career occupational therapists are supported and prepared for this role, with access to appropriate training, resources and protected time to deliver high-quality, developmental supervision.	
7.2.6	Supervisors provide inclusive, developmental oversight that supports reflective learning, facilitates safe skill development and enables shadowing opportunities across the occupational therapy process.	
7.2.7	Where structured early career programmes are available, occupational therapists are offered timely access as part of their overall support and development.	
7.2.8	A range of supervision models are used to appropriately meet the individual needs of early career occupational therapists.	



Profes	Professional development and lifelong learning		
	rd 7.3 vers support early career occupational therapists to engage in professional development, sh individual career trajectories and contribute to the development of the profession.		
7.3.1	Early career occupational therapists take an active role in identifying their individual learning needs and set development goals in line with the RCOT Career Development Framework (RCOT, 2021a).		
7.3.2	Early career occupational therapists actively engage with professional development opportunities across the four pillars of practice of the RCOT Career Development Framework (RCOT, 2021a). This includes both structured learning activities and learning embedded in day-to-day practice.		
7.3.3.	A minimum of half a day protected time is allocated per month for CPD, structured reflection and professional development activities, tailored to the individual learning needs and development goals of the early career occupational therapist.		
7.3.4	Early career occupational therapists are encouraged and supported to engage in the role of practice educator.		
7.3.5	Employers collaborate with education providers to understand the knowledge, skills and values developed during pre-registration education and ensure this learning is built upon in the workplace.		
7.3.6	Employers collaborate with education providers to inform the development of a contemporary curriculum, supporting alignment between evolving service needs and graduate readiness.		
7.3.7	Early career occupational therapists have access to mentorship opportunities that provide tailored guidance, promote professional growth, and support exploration of individual career aspirations beyond supervision structures.		
7.3.8	Employers actively promote equitable access to mentorship opportunities for early career occupational therapists, ensuring these reflect and value diverse identities, perspectives and lived experiences across the profession.		
Sustai	Sustaining personal health and wellbeing		
suppor	rd 7.4 vers proactively promote the wellbeing of early career occupational therapists through tive working practices that enable sustainable, reflective and self-directed engagement in fession.		
7.4.1	Early career occupational therapists develop agency in managing their health and wellbeing, through access to resources, supportive workplace practices and opportunities for self-awareness, self-management and reflection.		
7.4.2	Resources and signposting are available to promote mental health and wellbeing, particularly in response to stress and transition-related challenges.		
7.4.3	Employers regularly review and adjust workload expectations to support wellbeing and enable sustainable engagement, ensuring caseloads are manageable in relation to the occupational therapist's stage of practice, available support and case demands.		
7.4.4	Employers promote practices that contribute to the long term sustainability of the occupational therapy workforce, including career progression pathways and retention strategies.		



Professional identity and networking		
Employ engagi	Standard 7.5 Employers support early career occupational therapists to develop a strong professional identity, engaging with the wider profession through networking, leadership and peer learning opportunities.	
7.5.1	Employers encourage early career occupational therapists to engage with the wider profession through networks, events and professional communities such as RCOT, WFOT and other occupational therapy forums.	
7.5.2	Early career occupational therapists are encouraged to explore and articulate the value of occupational therapy within multidisciplinary settings.	
7.5.3	Early career occupational therapists are encouraged to join RCOT to strengthen their professional identity, access tailored support and engage with the wider community.	
7.5.4	Early career occupational therapists are supported to engage in peer learning and early leadership opportunities that develop confidence, collaboration and professional growth.	
Develo	ping professional capabilities	
	vers support early career occupational therapists to develop professional capabilities for clusive and evidence-based practice, including critical thinking, professional reasoning and	
7.6.1	Early career occupational therapists are encouraged to foster a culture of curiosity and advocacy by critiquing practice, supporting innovation and championing occupation-centred language and approaches within their services.	
7.6.2	Early career occupational therapists are encouraged to strengthen their professional reasoning and apply evidence to justify decisions, in line with RCOT Professional standards (RCOT, 2021b).	
7.6.3	Early career occupational therapists are encouraged to engage in opportunities to develop core communication and interpersonal skills that support reasoning and collaboration, as well as safe and ethical practice in a range of environments.	
7.6.4	Early career occupational therapists are supported to develop confidence in using digital tools and technologies relevant to practice, communication and service delivery.	
7.6.5	Early career occupational therapists are supported to develop cultural responsiveness and embed inclusive, anti-oppressive and anti-discriminatory approaches into their decision making and advocacy.	
7.6.6	Early career occupational therapists are encouraged to apply their skills in research, quality improvement, practice, innovation and real-world evaluation projects, in ways that align with their level of experience and the needs of the service.	
7.6.7	Early career occupational therapists are encouraged to access, use and generate the evidence base through research activity.	



Definitions and terminology

Admissions tutor	An occupational therapist employed by the education provider who has overall responsibility for the admission of suitable applicants to the programme. The Admissions Tutor is involved in interviewing and/or assessing applicants.
Aegrotat award	An award without classification that may be given when a learner is unable to take their examination because of illness or death, and where it has been deemed that the candidate would have otherwise passed.
Applicant	A potential learner seeking enrolment in an occupational therapy programme.
Apprentice	An occupational therapist apprentice is an individual employed in a health, social care or related setting who is undertaking a structured training degree programme that combines practical, on-the-job experience with academic study.
Apprenticeship programme	An apprenticeship programme enables apprentices to study while working, gaining experience in occupational therapy and progressing towards an academic award.
Autonomous practice	A fundamental element of the occupational therapy standards of proficiency, this is the ability to assess a professional situation and address it appropriately with the relevant occupational therapy knowledge and experience. It is also inclusive of the ability to make reasoned decisions, to be able to justify these decisions and accept personal responsibility for all actions (HCPC, 2023a).
Award	The occupational therapy qualification conferred on a learner following the successful completion of a programme.
Contemporary practice	Current, evidence-informed, person-centred occupational therapy that is responsive to emerging social, technological and political trends, population needs and innovation in service delivery and professional roles.
Continuing professional development (CPD)	The way in which an individual continues to learn and develop throughout their career, including during their programme. CPD is essential and evolves skills, knowledge, professional identity and professional conduct so that individuals stay up to date and practice safely and effectively (Broughton and Harris, 2019).
Curriculum	The planned content, academic and practice-based learning experiences and assessments designed to prepare learners for professional practice as occupational therapists.
Curriculum vitae (CV)	Documentation describing the qualifications, expertise and experience of an individual.
Digital literacy	The ability to effectively navigate, utilise, evaluate and create information using digital technologies in the context of occupational therapy practice. This includes emerging innovations such as artificial intelligence (AI), technology enabled care, digital health tools and virtual environments.



Early career	RCOT define the early career of an occupational therapist as the first three years following registration with the HCPC. 'Early career' includes newly registered practitioners, those returning to practice after a prolonged absence and internationally qualified occupational therapists adapting to UK practice. It is characterised by the transition into autonomous practice, consolidation of core professional capabilities, development of professional identity and active engagement in CPD and career planning.
Education provider	The awarding body that delivers or oversees an occupational therapy programme.
Educator	An individual with the relevant specialist knowledge and expertise, employed or engaged by an education provider to teach the programme. Educators may also be known as 'academics', 'tutors' or 'lecturers'.
Employer	A public, independent, private or third sector organisation that employs people to undertake a specific role with legal and contractually acceptable terms and conditions. For apprenticeship programmes, the employer is an organisation that employs an individual to undertake a specific job that includes training or skills development as part of the role.
End-point assessment (EPA)	An independent assessment at the end of the apprenticeship programme, to assess whether the learner has achieved competence and is eligible to be conferred an award leading to eligibility to apply to register with HCPC as an occupational therapist.
Ethical and professional conduct expectations of the profession	These are as defined and detailed in the RCOT Professional standards for occupational therapy practice, conduct and ethics (RCOT, 2021b).
Equity, Diversity and Belonging (EDB)	 Equity recognises differences and complexity in circumstances, experiences and needs. It means treating people differently to achieve fairness by being flexible and responsive to access, opportunities and resources. Like occupational therapy, equity is about understanding and recognising individual needs. It's about everyone having what they need, to make the most of life. Diversity means recognising, respecting, valuing and celebrating different and intersections in needs, identities, backgrounds, experiences and perspectives. It's the key to breaking down cultural and institutional barriers and fostering a culture of creativity and innovation. Belonging is about much more than simply including people. It means proactively welcoming, celebrating, supporting, and empowering every voice, so we're all properly recognised, valued and free to be our true and authentic selves' (RCOT, 2024a, p.10). As stated in RCOT's Equity, Diversity and Belonging Strategy (2024) each of these three concepts is vital, so while 'EDB' is a useful shortform, we don't want it to become a meaningless acronym or minimise the individual elements' importance.



	These terms are defined in RCOT's Equity, Diversity and Belonging Strategy (2024a). A full list of useful terminology related to EDB can be found here: EDB Terminology.
Fitness for the profession	The demonstration of the personal, professional, ethical and academic attributes required to become a safe, effective and inclusive occupational therapist. It encompasses professionalism, reflection, communication, conduct and alignment with the values and behaviours expected by regulatory and professional standards.
Foundation programme	Foundation programmes specifically related to the occupational therapy profession offer awards intended to provide basic knowledge in a subject to prepare a learner to undertake an occupational therapy programme. Generic foundation programmes are non-occupational therapy-specific awards and do not offer any recognition of prior learning for a pre- registration programme.
General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR)	In the UK, data protection is governed by the UK General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) (UK Government, 2018a) and the Data Protection Act 2018 (UK Government, 2018b). Data protection legislation controls how your personal information is used by organisations, including businesses and government departments.
Graduate	An individual who has successfully met the programme requirements of their education provider and has been conferred the associated award.
Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC)	The regulating body in the United Kingdom established to protect the public by regulating a range of health and care professions, including occupational therapy.
Individual scheme of study	A documented and approved variation from the standard progression route through a programme, designed to accommodate the specific needs or circumstances of an individual learner. It is clearly mapped, agreed by relevant stakeholders (including the learner, educators, Programme Lead and employer where applicable) and aligned with the Standards and the education providers requirements.
Interprofessional learning	Learners from different professions actively participating to learn with, from and about each other. The anticipated outcome of interprofessional learning is the development of a working culture of effective collaboration, shared working and integration of care across agencies, sectors and professions within and beyond the health, wellbeing, social and integrative care systems.
Learner	An individual enrolled in an occupational therapy programme. Learners may also be known as 'students' or, in the case of apprenticeship programmes, 'apprentices'.
Learner agency	The capacity and autonomy of learners to actively engage in, influence and take responsibility for their own learning, development and wellbeing. Learner agency encompasses self-awareness, self-directed learning, critical reflection, decision-making and ownership of professional growth.



Lifelong learning	Formal and informal learning opportunities that allow an individual to continuously develop and improve the knowledge and skills they need for employment and personal fulfilment (Broughton and Harris, 2019).
Long-arm supervision	A model of supervision used in practice-based learning settings where no on-site occupational therapist is available and occupational therapy- specific supervision is provided by an occupational therapist from outside the setting. This may be delivered by an educator from the education provider, or an occupational therapist from another service, using a range of communication methods to support and assess the learner.
Mentorship	Mentorship is a voluntary, supportive relationship in which an experienced professional offers guidance, encouragement and space for reflection. Unlike supervision, it is non-evaluative and typically takes place outside formal line management structures, enabling open dialogue and exploration of individual goals. Mentorship focuses on professional identity, confidence-building and long term career development. It fosters a sense of belonging, supports resilience and has been shown to positively influence wellbeing, job satisfaction and retention within the profession.
Occupational justice	'Occupational justice is concerned with ethical, moral and civic issues of what people do in their relationships and conditions for living. It acknowledges that doing, being, belonging, and becoming contribute to health and well-being, and that all individuals and groups have the right to participate in occupations that are meaningful and culturally relevant' (Wilcock and Townsend, 2009).
People who access occupational therapy services	Anyone who accesses or is affected by occupational therapy services, including patients, carers, clients, families or communities. The term is also inclusive of colleagues and peers of the occupational therapist or occupational therapy learner who are being impacted by their knowledge, skills or professional conduct (Broughton and Harris, 2019).
Practice-based learning (PBL)	'Refers to the time learners spend interpreting specific person- occupation-environment relationships and their relationship to health and wellbeing, establishing and evaluating therapeutic and professional relationships, implementing an occupational therapy process (or some aspect of it), demonstrating professional reasoning and behaviours, and generating or using knowledge of the context of professional practice with and for real live people' (WFOT, 2016).
Practice-based learning provider	The service, organisation or business hosting learners during their practice-based learning.
Practice Educator	An occupational therapist who supervises, supports and assesses a learner during practice-based learning. In settings without an on-site occupational therapist, support may be provided by another staff member, with occupational therapy-specific supervision and assessment delivered through long-arm supervision.
Programme	Occupational therapy pre-registration programme of study, approved by HCPC leading to eligibility to apply for registration as an occupational therapist with HCPC.



Programme team	The staff employed by the education provider to develop, deliver and/or evaluate the programme. The programme team includes those teaching the programme as well as the administrative and support staff involved.
Professional Lead	 The strategic level role within the education provider responsible for leading the suite of occupational therapy programmes. The Professional Lead: Is an occupational therapist. Is an RCOT member Has a broad range of professional experience, including a previous substantive academic appointment within an education provider. Will strategically lead the development and implementation of contemporary, creative and innovative programmes. Is given the authority by the education provider to maintain the programme's alignment with the Standards. Allocates an occupational therapist, employed by the education provider, to hold overall responsibility for the development of practice-based learning opportunities across a range of practice-based learning settings. Liaises with the education provider's senior management team to ensure their engagement with, and support for, the Standards. Recognises the changing needs of the profession and adapts the programme to address these needs. Possesses capabilities at Level 7 (or above) of the Leadership Pillar in the Career Development Framework (RCOT, 2021a). Facilitates and supports the active involvement of colleagues and learners with RCOT. It is possible for the same individual to be the Professional and the Programme Lead simultaneously, although it is likely that the workloads of the respective roles would prohibit this arrangement and therefore it is more commonly the case that the roles are held by different individuals.
Professional standards for occupational therapy practice, conduct and ethics <i>Referred to a 'RCOT</i> <i>Professional standards'</i>	The term used to describe RCOT's Professional standards for occupational therapy practice, conduct and ethics (RCOT, 2021b). The RCOT Professional standards outline the expectations for safe, effective and ethical occupational therapy practice, covering professional behaviours, accountability, service user relationships and ongoing development.
Professionalism	Professionalism is a way of thinking, values and motivations that underpin the behaviours and interactions seen. It goes beyond being a capable practitioner and concerns how a practitioner represents themselves, their employer and their profession to others (RCOT, 2021b).
Programme Lead	 The operational level role within the education provider responsible for leading the occupational therapy programme. The Programme Lead: Is an occupational therapist. Is an RCOT member.



• Is responsible for ensuring that the Learning and development standards for pre-registration education and early career occupational therapists are met. • Is directly responsible for developing the programme. • Is the directly responsible for co-ordinating the planning and administration of the programme. • Facilitates and supports the active involvement of colleagues and learners with RCOT. • The Programme Lead role may be a rotational post, providing an opportunity for career advancement and skill expansion for different individuals. • It is possible for the same individual to be the Programme Lead and the Professional Lead simultaneously, although it is likely that the workloads of the respective roles would prohibit this arrangement and therefore it is more commonly the case that the roles are held by different individuals. Reasonable adjustments are 'changes made to an approach or provision to ensure that services are accessible to disabled peoplethere is an 'anticipatory' duty on public sector organisations, meaning the need to think what is likely to be needed in advance' (UK Government, 2020). Research Attempts to create new, transferable knowledge by addressing clearly defined questions with systematic and rigorous methods (RCOT, 2025). Safeguarding Safeguarding is about 'protecting a person's health, wellbeing, and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and human rights, and en		
adjustmentsprovision to ensure that services are accessible to disabled people there is an 'anticipatory' duty on public sector organisations, meaning the need to think what is likely to be needed in advance' (UK Government, 2020).ResearchAttempts to create new, transferable knowledge by addressing clearly defined questions with systematic and rigorous methods (RCOT, 2025).SafeguardingSafeguarding is about 'protecting a person's health, wellbeing, and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and neglect' (Care Quality Commission, 2022).ScholarshipAn individual's engagement in the systematic development, application, evaluation and sharing of knowledge to advance occupational therapy education, practice or professional development.Self-directed study during practice-basedSimulation is a learning tool that supports development through experiential learning by creating or replicatingreal life situations. It should provide a safe environment where participants can learn from their mistakes without any danger to patients, allowing individuals to analyse and respond to these realistic situations, with the aim of developing or enhancing their knowledge, skills, behaviour and attitudes (Hawker <i>et al.</i> , 2022).Simulated practice- based learningSimulated practice-based learning is the use of simulation methodologies to replicate practice-based experiences, enabling learners to engage in realistic scenarios that reflect the practice of occupational therapy, for the purpose of skill acquisition, critical thinking development and professional growth, aligned with curriculum learning outcomes and assessment frameworks.Shared learningLearning that takes place collaboratively between individuals or groups, which may occur withi		 standards for pre-registration education and early career occupational therapists are met. Is directly responsible for developing the programme. Is responsible for co-ordinating the planning and administration of the programme. Facilitates and supports the active involvement of colleagues and learners with RCOT. The Programme Lead role may be a rotational post, providing an opportunity for career advancement and skill expansion for different individuals. It is possible for the same individual to be the Programme Lead and the Professional Lead simultaneously, although it is likely that the workloads of the respective roles would prohibit this arrangement and therefore it is more commonly the case that the roles are held by
defined questions with systematic and rigorous methods (RCOT, 2025).SafeguardingSafeguarding is about 'protecting a person's health, wellbeing, and human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and neglect' (Care Quality Commission, 2022).ScholarshipAn individual's engagement in the systematic development, application, evaluation and sharing of knowledge to advance occupational therapy education, practice or professional development.Self-directed study during practice-based learningThe defined period of self-directed learning undertaken as a component of practice-based learning which contributes to the required 1,000 hours of successfully completed practice-based learning.SimulationSimulation is a learning tool that supports development through experiential learning by creating or replicatingreal life situations. It should provide a safe environment where participants can learn from their mistakes without any danger to patients, allowing individuals to analyse and respond to these realistic situations, with the aim of developing or enhancing their knowledge, skills, behaviour and attitudes (Hawker <i>et al.</i> , 2022).Simulated practice- based learningSimulated practice-based learning is the use of simulation methodologies to replicate practice-based experiences, enabling learners to engage in realistic scenarios that reflect the practice of occupational therapy, for the purpose of skill acquisition, critical thinking development and professional growth, aligned with curriculum learning outcomes and assessment frameworks.Shared learningLearning that takes place collaboratively between individuals or groups, which may occur within a single profession or across multiple		provision to ensure that services are accessible to disabled people there is an 'anticipatory' duty on public sector organisations, meaning the need to think what is likely to be needed in advance' (UK
human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and neglect' (Care Quality Commission, 2022).ScholarshipAn individual's engagement in the systematic development, application, evaluation and sharing of knowledge to advance occupational therapy education, practice or professional development.Self-directed study during practice-based learningThe defined period of self-directed learning undertaken as a component of practice-based learning which contributes to the required 1,000 hours 	Research	
evaluation and sharing of knowledge to advance occupational therapy education, practice or professional development.Self-directed study during practice-based learningThe defined period of self-directed learning undertaken as a component of practice-based learning which contributes to the required 1,000 hours of successfully completed practice-based learning.SimulationSimulation is a learning tool that supports development through experiential learning by creating or replicatingreal life situations. It should provide a safe environment where participants can learn from their mistakes without any danger to patients, allowing individuals to analyse and respond to these realistic situations, with the aim of developing or enhancing their knowledge, skills, behaviour and attitudes (Hawker et al., 2022).Simulated practice- based learningSimulated practice-based learning is the use of simulation methodologies to replicate practice-based experiences, enabling learners to engage in realistic scenarios that reflect the practice of occupational therapy, for the purpose of skill acquisition, critical thinking development and professional growth, aligned with curriculum learning outcomes and assessment frameworks.Shared learningLearning that takes place collaboratively between individuals or groups, which may occur within a single profession or across multiple	Safeguarding	human rights, and enabling them to live free from harm, abuse and
during practice-basedof practice-based learning which contributes to the required 1,000 hours of successfully completed practice-based learning.SimulationSimulation is a learning tool that supports development through experiential learning by creating or replicatingreal life situations. It should provide a safe environment where participants can learn from their mistakes without any danger to patients, allowing individuals to analyse and respond to these realistic situations, with the aim of developing or enhancing their knowledge, skills, behaviour and attitudes (Hawker et al., 2022).Simulated practice- based learningSimulated practice-based learning is the use of simulation methodologies to replicate practice-based experiences, enabling learners to engage in realistic scenarios that reflect the practice of occupational therapy, for the purpose of skill acquisition, critical thinking development and professional growth, aligned with curriculum learning outcomes and assessment frameworks.Shared learningLearning that takes place collaboratively between individuals or groups, which may occur within a single profession or across multiple	Scholarship	evaluation and sharing of knowledge to advance occupational therapy
experiential learning by creating or replicatingreal life situations. It should provide a safe environment where participants can learn from their mistakes without any danger to patients, allowing individuals to analyse and respond to these realistic situations, with the aim of developing or enhancing their knowledge, skills, behaviour and attitudes (Hawker <i>et al.</i> , 2022).Simulated practice- based learningSimulated practice-based learning is the use of simulation methodologies to replicate practice-based experiences, enabling learners to engage in realistic scenarios that reflect the practice of occupational therapy, for the purpose of skill acquisition, critical thinking development and professional growth, aligned with curriculum learning outcomes and assessment frameworks.Shared learningLearning that takes place collaboratively between individuals or groups, which may occur within a single profession or across multiple	during practice-based	of practice-based learning which contributes to the required 1,000 hours
based learningmethodologies to replicate practice-based experiences, enabling learners to engage in realistic scenarios that reflect the practice of occupational therapy, for the purpose of skill acquisition, critical thinking development and professional growth, aligned with curriculum learning outcomes and assessment frameworks.Shared learningLearning that takes place collaboratively between individuals or groups, which may occur within a single profession or across multiple	Simulation	experiential learning by creating or replicatingreal life situations. It should provide a safe environment where participants can learn from their mistakes without any danger to patients, allowing individuals to analyse and respond to these realistic situations, with the aim of developing or enhancing their knowledge, skills, behaviour and attitudes
which may occur within a single profession or across multiple		methodologies to replicate practice-based experiences, enabling learners to engage in realistic scenarios that reflect the practice of occupational therapy, for the purpose of skill acquisition, critical thinking development and professional growth, aligned with curriculum learning
	Shared learning	which may occur within a single profession or across multiple



	interprofessional competencies. Shared learning promotes the exchange of ideas, collective reflection, and mutual understanding, supporting professional development and teamwork.
Stakeholders	Individuals, groups or organisations with a vested interest in contributing to the design, delivery, quality and outcomes of occupational therapy education. This includes (but not limited to) learners, educators, practice educators, service users, employers, education providers, regulatory and professional bodies and wider health, care and community partners.
Step-off award	A lower award is offered in recognition of the attainment of academic credit that is less than that required for the final award. Each education provider will have its own set of regulations about when, or if, this applies to the programmes they deliver, and it should not be assumed that step-off awards are granted by every education provider. An example of a step-off award is when the lower award of a postgraduate diploma is offered where the academic achievement for a master's award has not been reached. A lower award clearly states the academic and practice-based learning achievement required and whether the lower award confers eligibility to apply for registration with the HCPC.
Suite of occupational therapy education programmes	A collection of occupational therapy pre-registration programmes offered by an education provider, with a range of awards or pathways leading to eligibility to register with HCPC as an occupational therapist.
Supervision	A professional relationship and activity which ensures good standards of practice and encourages development (RCOT, 2021a).
Tutor	The term used to describe the role of an educator in supporting the learner's professional development or in providing general academic advice and mentoring.
Wellbeing support	Resources and approaches used to promote and maintain mental, emotional and physical wellbeing.
Work-based mentor	An apprentice's work-based mentor provides a support system for the apprentice. They are an occupational therapist and not their line-manager.



Reference list

Broughton, W. and Harris, G. (2019) *Principles for Continuing Professional Development and Lifelong Learning in Health and Social Care*. Bridgwater: College of Paramedics. Available at: <u>https://www.bda.uk.com/asset/3C0A3258-B2FF-4802-957BD61120903E8A/</u>

Care Quality Commission (2022) *Safeguarding people*. Available at: https://www.cqc.org.uk/what-we-do/how-we-do-our-job/safeguarding-people

Hawker, C., Diaz-Navarro, C., Jones, B., Mitra, S., Cook, S.C. and Bartholomew, B. (2022) 'Developing an All-Wales definition of Simulation-Based Education', *International Journal of Healthcare Simulation*, 2(1), pp. A40–A41. doi:10.54531/INHM4618.

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) (2023a) *Standards of proficiency for occupational therapists*. Available at: https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-proficiency/occupational-therapists/

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC). (2023b). *Standards of education and training*. London: HCPC. Available at: <u>https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-relevant-to-education-and-training/set/</u>

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2015) *Supervision: Guidance for occupational therapists and their managers*. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021a) *Career Development Framework: Guiding Principles for Occupational Therapy*. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021b) *Professional standards for occupational therapy, practice, conduct and ethics.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists and Chartered Society of Physiotherapy (2023) AHP principles of practice-based learning. London: RCOT and CSP

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024a) *Equity, Diversity and Belonging Strategy 2024-2027.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024b) *Occupational Therapy Workforce Strategy* 2024–2035. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2025) *Occupational Therapy Research and Innovation Strategy*. London: RCOT.

UK Government (2020) *Reasonable adjustments: a legal duty*. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reasonable-adjustments-a-legal-duty/reasonable-adjustments-a-legal-duty</u>

UK Government (2018a) *UK General Data Protection Regulation*. Available at: <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents</u>

UK Government (2018b) *Data Protection Act 2018*. Available at: <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/12/contents/enacted</u>



Wilcock, A.A. and Townsend, E.A. (2009). 'Occupational justice'. In: E.A. Townsend and H.J. Polatajko, eds., *Enabling occupation II: Advancing an occupational therapy vision for health, wellbeing & justice through occupation,* 2nd ed. Ottawa: CAOT Publications ACE, pp. 57–71

World Federation of Occupational Therapists (WFOT) (2016) *Minimum standards for the education of occupational therapists*. 3rd edn. Available at: https://wfot.org/resources

30





Anvarizadeh, A. *et al.* (2023) 'Promoting Health Equity Through Holistic Admissions in Occupational Therapy Education', *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*. North Bethesda, Maryland: American Occupational Therapy Association, pp. 1–5. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2023.050103</u>.

Brotherton, S. *et al.* (2021) 'Holistic Admissions: Strategies for Increasing Student Diversity in Occupational Therapy, Physical Therapy, and Physician Assistant Studies Programs', *Journal of allied health*, 50(3), pp. E91–E97. Available at: https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip.shib&db=cin20&AN=152480601 & site=ehost-live&scope=site&custid=s4653279&authtype=ip.shib.

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) (2023a) *Standards of proficiency for occupational therapists*. Available at: https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-proficiency/occupational-therapists/

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC). (2023b). *Standards of education and training*. London: HCPC. Available at: <u>https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-relevant-to-education-and-training/set/</u>

Lancaster, S., Woods, L. and Zachry, A. (2024) 'Addressing Bias in the Occupational Therapy Admissions Process', *Occupational Therapy in Health Care*, pp. 1–15. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07380577.2024.2397667</u>.

McGinley, S.L. (2020) 'Pre-entry Selection Assessment Results and Final Degree Outcomes of Occupational Therapy Students: Are There Relationships?', *Journal of Occupational Therapy Education*, 4(3). Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.26681/jote.2020.040308</u>.

McGinley, S.L., Hamilton, S. and Bradley, A. (2023a) 'Selection and recruitment of pre-registration occupational therapy students in the United Kingdom: exploring entry criteria across education providers', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 86(5), pp. 385–393. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022622114841</u>.

NHS England. (2023). *Equality, diversity and inclusion improvement plan*. London: NHS England. Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/nhs-equality-diversity-and-inclusion-improvement-plan/

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021a) *Career Development Framework:* Guiding Principles for Occupational Therapy. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021b) *Professional standards for occupational therapy, practice, conduct and ethics.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024a) *Equity, Diversity and Belonging Strategy 2024-2027.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024b) *Occupational Therapy Workforce Strategy* 2024–2035. London: RCOT.



Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2025) *Occupational Therapy Research and Innovation Strategy*. London: RCOT.

Taylor, K. *et al.* (2024) 'The Relationship Between Holistic Admissions Criteria and Program Ranking Among Occupational Therapy Entry-Level Programs', *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy (OJOT)*, 12(2), pp. 1–7. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.2095</u>.

Tyminski, Q.P. and Grajo, L. (2024) 'Barriers that Affect Equity in the Occupational Therapy Admissions Process: Student and Faculty Perspectives', *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy (OJOT)*, 12(2), pp. 1–9. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.2231</u>.

Wilson, C. *et al.* (2020) 'Evaluation of an Interview Process for Admission into an Occupational Therapy Program', *Journal of allied health*, 49(2), pp. 114–119. Available at: <u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,shib&db=cin20&AN=143685567</u> &site=ehost-live&scope=site&custid=s4653279&authtype=ip,shib.

World Federation of Occupational Therapists (WFOT) (2016) *Minimum standards for the education of occupational therapists*. 3rd edn. Available at: https://wfot.org/resources



Scope 3: Programme management and leadership

Casto, S.C. *et al.* (2021) 'Standards of Practice for Occupational Therapy', *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 76. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/AJOT.2021.75S3004</u>.

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) (2023a) *Standards of proficiency for occupational therapists.* Available at: https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-proficiency/occupational-therapists/

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC). (2023b). *Standards of education and training*. London: HCPC. Available at: <u>https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-relevant-to-education-and-training/set/</u>

Kazley, A.S. *et al.* (2024) 'Is use of ChatGPT cheating? Students of health professions perceptions', *Medical teacher*, pp. 1–5. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/0142159X.2024.2385667</u>.

Occupational Therapy Council (Australia and New Zealand) (2013) *Accreditation Standards for Entry-Level Occupational Therapy Education Programs.* Canberra: Occupational Therapy Council (Australia and New Zealand).

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021a) *Career Development Framework: Guiding Principles for Occupational Therapy*. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021b) *Professional standards for occupational therapy, practice, conduct and ethics.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024a) *Equity, Diversity and Belonging Strategy 2024-2027.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024b) *Occupational Therapy Workforce Strategy* 2024–2035. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2025) *Occupational Therapy Research and Innovation Strategy*. London: RCOT.

Simaan, J. (2020) 'Decolonising occupational science education through learning activities based on a study from the Global South'. *Journal of Occupational Science*, 27(3), pp. 405–416. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14427591.2020.1780937</u>.

World Federation of Occupational Therapists (WFOT) (2016) *Minimum standards for the education of occupational therapists*. 3rd edn. Available at: https://wfot.org/resources



Scope 4: Curriculum design and delivery

Ahmed-Landeryou, M. (2023) 'Developing an evidence-Informed decolonising curriculum wheel – A reflective piece', *Equity in Education & Society*, 2(2), pp. 157–180. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/27526461231154014</u>.

American Occupational Therapy Association (2022) 'Standards for Continuing Competence in Occupational Therapy' (2022) *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 75. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2021.75S3009</u>.

Berg, C., Philipp, R. and Taff, S.D. (2023) 'Scoping Review of Critical Thinking Literature in Healthcare Education', *Occupational Therapy in Health Care*, 37(1), pp. 18–39. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07380577.2021.1879411</u>.

Blodgett, N.P. *et al.* (2022) 'Developing Virtual Simulations to Confront Racism and Bias in Health Professions Education', *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 71, pp. 105–111. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2022.03.009</u>.

Casto, S.C. *et al.* (2021) 'Standards of Practice for Occupational Therapy', *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 76. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/AJOT.2021.75S3004</u>.

Council of Deans of Health. (2021). *Guidance: Public health content within the pre-registration curricula for allied health professions.* London: Council of Deans of Health. Available at: https://www.councilofdeans.org.uk/resource/guidance-public-health-content-within-the-pre-registration-curricula-for-allied-health-professions/

Council of Deans of Health (2023) *AHP educator career framework*. Available at: <u>https://advanced-practice.hee.nhs.uk/multi-professional</u>

Crawley, R. (2022) 'Cultural competence in occupational therapy to reduce health disparities: a systematic literature review', *International Journal of Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 29(10), pp. 1–14. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2021.0011</u>.

Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC). (2021). *People at the heart of care: adult social care reform white paper*. London: DHSC. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/people-at-the-heart-of-care-adult-social-care-reform-white-paper

Dominguez, M. (2021) 'Aligning clinical practice & education: An interprofessional collaborative experience for students', *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, 82(5-). Available at:

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=psyc20&NEWS=N&AN=2020-97492-169.

American Occupational Therapy Association (2020) 'Educator's Guide for Addressing Cultural Awareness, Humility, and Dexterity in Occupational Therapy Curricula' *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 74, pp. 1–19. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2020.74S3005</u>.

Elvén, M. *et al.* (2023) 'Clinical Reasoning Curricula in Health Professions Education: A Scoping Review', *Journal of medical education and curricular development*, 10, p. 23821205231209092. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/23821205231209093</u>.



Fan, C.W. (2023) 'Using Escape Rooms to Promote Active Learning & Intraprofessional Collaboration: A Pilot Study...American Occupational Therapy Association (AOTA) INSPIRE Annual Conference & Expo, April 20-23, 2023, Kansas City, Missouri', *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 77, p. 1. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2023.77S2-PO165</u>.

Frank, G. (2012) 'The 2010 Ruth Zemke lecture in occupational science occupational therapy/occupational science/occupational justice: Moral commitments and global assemblages', *Journal of Occupational Science*, 19(1), pp. 25–35. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/14427591.2011.607792.

Friedman, C. and VanPuymbrouck, L. (2021) 'Ageism and Ableism: Unrecognized Biases in Occupational Therapy Students', *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Geriatrics*, 39(4), pp. 354–369. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02703181.2021.1880531</u>.

Hackett, K.L. *et al.* (2024) 'Embedding research within occupational therapy pre-registration training: A concept mapping study engaging staff and student voices', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 87(10), pp. 645–656. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/03080226241253102</u>.

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) (2023a) *Standards of proficiency for occupational therapists*. Available at: https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-proficiency/occupational-therapists/

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC). (2023b). *Standards of education and training*. London: HCPC. Available at: <u>https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-relevant-to-education-and-training/set/</u>

Hendricks, F. *et al.* (2023) 'A Narrative Review of Student Evaluations of Teaching in Decolonial Praxis: Implications for Occupational Therapy Higher Education', *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy (OJOT)*, 11(1), pp. 1–16. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1969. Higher Education England (2021) *HEE Quality Framework from 2021*. Available at: www.hee.nhs.uk.

Hynes, S.M., Hills, C. and Orban, K. (2022) 'A scoping review of online international student collaboration in occupational therapy education', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 85(9), pp. 642–652. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/03080226221086221</u>.

Institute for Apprenticeships and Technical Education (IfATE). (n.d.). *Occupational therapist (degree)* (ST0517, version 1.2). Available at: <u>https://www.instituteforapprenticeships.org/apprenticeship-standards/st0517-v1-2</u>

Krishnagiri, S. *et al.* (2019) 'A National Survey of Learning Activities and Instructional Strategies Used to Teach Occupation: Implications for Signature Pedagogies', *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 73(5), pp. 7305205080p1-7305205080p11. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2019.032789</u>.

Lerner, J.E. and Kim, A. (2022) 'Developing an Anti-Racist Practice in Occupational Therapy: Guidance for the Occupational Therapist', *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy (OJOT)*, 10(4), pp. 1–13. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1934</u>.

Mahoney, W.J. and Kiraly-Alvarez, A. (2019) 'Challenging the Status Quo: Infusing Non-Western Ideas into Occupational Therapy Education and Practice', *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy (OJOT)*, 7(3), pp. 1–10. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1592</u>.



Nielsen, L.D. *et al.* (2024) 'Interventions, methods and outcome measures used in teaching evidence-based practice to healthcare students: an overview of systematic reviews', *BMC medical education*, 24(1), p. 306. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-024-05259-8</u>.

NHS England. (2022). *Allied Health Professions (AHP) education and training framework*. London: NHS England. Available at: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/allied-health-professions-education-and-training-framework/</u>

NHS England. (2023). *Equality, diversity and inclusion improvement plan*. London: NHS England. Available at: <u>https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/nhs-equality-diversity-and-inclusion-improvement-plan/</u>

Occupational Therapy Council (Australia and New Zealand) (2013) *Accreditation Standards for Entry-Level Occupational Therapy Education Programs.* Canberra: Occupational Therapy Council (Australia and New Zealand).

'Occupational Therapy Curriculum Design Framework' (2021) *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 75, pp. 1–39. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2021.75S3008</u>

American Occupational Therapy Association (2021) 'Occupational therapy scope of practice', *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 75(Suppl. 3), pp. 1–9. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2021.75S3005</u>.

American Occupational Therapy Association (2020) 'Occupational Therapy's Commitment to Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion' (2020) *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 74, pp. 1–6. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2020.74S3002</u>.

O'Shea, J. and McGrath, S. (2019) 'Contemporary factors shaping the professional identity of occupational therapy lecturers', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 82(3), pp. 186–194. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022618796777</u>.

Page, C. *et al.* (2023) 'Virtual Interprofessional Education: Lessons Learned', *Journal of Allied Health*, 52(3), pp. 186–193. Available at: <u>https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,shib&db=cin20&AN=172261792</u> &site=ehost-live&scope=site&custid=s4653279&authtype=ip,shib.

Pentland, D. (2021) 'Is anything in life simple? Why we should think about complexity', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 84(7), pp. 397–399. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/03080226211017381</u>.

Pope, K., Hewlin-Vita, H. and Chu, E.M.Y. (2023) 'The Human Library and the development of cultural awareness and sensitivity in occupational therapy students: a mixed methods study', *Frontiers in medicine*, 10, p. 1215464. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2023.1215464</u>.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021a) *Career Development Framework: Guiding Principles for Occupational Therapy*. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021b) *Professional standards for occupational therapy, practice, conduct and ethics.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024a) *Equity, Diversity and Belonging Strategy 2024-2027.* London: RCOT.



Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024b) *Occupational Therapy Workforce Strategy* 2024–2035. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2025) *Occupational Therapy Research and Innovation Strategy.* London: RCOT.

Rihtman, T., Morgan, M. and Booth, J. (2024) 'The development of pre-registration occupational therapy student perceptions of research and evidence-based practice: A Q-methodology study', *Scandinavian journal of occupational therapy*, 31(1), p. 2391318. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2024.2391318</u>.

Schofield, K.A. (2018) 'Anatomy education in occupational therapy curricula: Perspectives of practitioners in the United States', *Anatomical sciences education*, 11(3), pp. 243–253. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ase.1723</u>.

Song, M., Martin, J. and Kinney, D. (2023) 'Development of Pedagogical Resources on Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion for Occupational Therapy Faculty at a Public University in Texas', *Journal of Best Practices in Health Professions Diversity: Education, Research & Policy*, 16(1), pp. 77–82. Available at:

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,shib&db=cin20&AN=177591786 &site=ehost-live&scope=site&custid=s4653279&authtype=ip,shib.

Souto-Gómez, A.-I. *et al.* (2023) 'Analysis of Occupational Therapy Students' Pedagogical Practices for the Forging of Professional Identity and Development of Professional Intelligence: A Scoping Review', *Journal of Intelligence*, 11(3). Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jintelligence11030048</u>.

Wisniewski, P.A. (2022) 'A project-based learning approach to community-based learning: Action research to explore transformative change in 1st year occupational therapy students' awareness about contextual barriers, occupational justice, and advocating for community health and wellness', *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences*, 83(12-), p. No-Specified. Available at:

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=psyc21&NEWS=N&AN=2022-81471-016.

World Federation of Occupational Therapists (WFOT) (2016) *Minimum standards for the education of occupational therapists*. 3rd edn. Available at: https://wfot.org/resources



Scope 5: Practice-based learning

Beveridge, J. and Pentland, D. (2020) 'A mapping review of models of practice education in allied health and social care professions', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 83(8), pp. 488–513. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022620904325</u>.

Bevitt, T. *et al.* (2024) 'Exploring the concepts of consumer feedback systems for occupational therapy student learning during practice placements: A scoping review', *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal* [Preprint]. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12984</u>.

Brown, T. *et al.* (2020) 'Exploring the relationship between resilience and practice education placement success in occupational therapy students', *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 67(1), pp. 49–61. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12622</u>.

Dancza, K., Copley, J. and Moran, M. (2019) 'Occupational therapy student learning on roleemerging placements in schools', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 82(9), pp. 567–577. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022619840167.

Francis-Cracknell, A., Truong, M. and Adams, K. (2023) "Maybe what I do know is wrong...": Reframing educator roles and professional development for teaching Indigenous health', *Nursing inquiry*, 30(2), pp. 1–9. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nin.12531</u>.

Gilfillan, J. *et al.* (2024) "(Not) knowing what you know": Exploring educators' perceptions of critical thinking in occupational therapy', *Scandinavian journal of occupational therapy*, 31(1), p. 2405189. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2024.2405189</u>.

Grant, T. *et al.* (2023) "I left feeling different about myself": What students learn on their first practice placement, *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 86(2), pp. 139–148. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/03080226221125394</u>.

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) (2023a) *Standards of proficiency for occupational therapists.* Available at: https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-proficiency/occupational-therapists/

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC). (2023b). *Standards of education and training*. London: HCPC. Available at: <u>https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-relevant-to-education-and-training/set/</u>

Health Education England (HEE). (2021). *Practice-based learning for allied health professions: enhancing capacity and quality*. London: HEE. Available at: <u>https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/allied-health-professions/increase-capacity/ahp-practice-based-learning</u>

Honey, A. and Penman, M. (2020) "You actually see what occupational therapists do in real life": Outcomes and critical features of first-year practice education placements', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 83(10), pp. 638–647. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022620920535</u>.

Kale, S., Kamble, M.W. and Spalding, N. (2020) 'Predictive validity of multiple mini interview scores for future academic and clinical placement performance in physiotherapy, occupational therapy and speech and language therapy programmes', *International Journal of Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 27(4), pp. 1–13. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2018.0149</u>.



Lavin, K.A. (2018) 'Use of a Journal Club During Level II Fieldwork to Facilitate Confidence and Skills for Evidence-Based Practice', *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy (OJOT)*, 6(4), pp. 1–8. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1475</u>.

Law, C.P., Masterson-Ng, S. and Pollard, N. (2022) 'Occupational therapy practice education: A perspective from international students in the UK', *Scandinavian journal of occupational therapy*, 29(1), pp. 33–45. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2020.1866069</u>.

Li, Y., Barrie, N. and Lindsay, S. (2025) 'A Scoping Review of the Experiences of Ableism of Occupational Therapists and Occupational Therapy Students with Disabilities', *Occupational Therapy In Health Care*, pp. 1–31. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07380577.2025.2475465</u>.

Martin, P. *et al.* (2023) 'Characteristics of perceived effective telesupervision practices: A case study of supervisees and supervisors', *PLOS one*, 18(7), p. e0288314. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0288314</u>.

Miyamoto, R. *et al.* (2019) 'Student Perceptions of Growth-Facilitating and Growth-Constraining Factors of Practice Placements: A Comparison between Japanese and United Kingdom Occupational Therapy Students', *Occupational Therapy International*, pp. 1–13. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/8582470</u>.

Pashmdarfard, M. *et al.* (2020) 'Which models can be used as a clinical education model in occupational therapy? Introduction of the models: A scoping review study', *Medical Journal of the Islamic Republic of Iran*, 34, p. 76. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.34171/mjiri.34.76</u>.

Rees, C.E. *et al.* (2018) 'Understanding students' and clinicians' experiences of informal interprofessional workplace learning: an Australian qualitative study', *BMJ open*, 8(4), p. e021238. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-021238</u>.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021a) *Career Development Framework: Guiding Principles for Occupational Therapy*. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021b) *Professional standards for occupational therapy, practice, conduct and ethics.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists and Chartered Society of Physiotherapy (2023) *AHP principles of practice-based learning*. London: RCOT and CSP

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024a) *Equity, Diversity and Belonging Strategy 2024-2027.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024b) *Occupational Therapy Workforce Strategy* 2024–2035. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024c) Practice-Based Learning. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024d) *Practice-Based learning: Establishing a shared language in evolving practice-based learning delivery models*. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2025) *Occupational Therapy Research and Innovation Strategy*. London: RCOT.

Thew, M., Cezar da Cruz, D. and Thomas, Y. (2023) 'Comparing and measuring the practice-based



performance and competence of occupational therapy students between traditional and role emerging placements: a retrospective cohort study', *Brazilian Journal of Occupational Therapy / Cadernos Brasileiros de Terapia Ocupacional*, 31, pp. 1–16. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1590/2526-8910.ctoAO265734672.

Thomas, Y. and Penman, M. (2019) 'World Federation of Occupational Therapists (WFOT) standard for 1000 hours of practice placement: informed by tradition or evidence?', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*. SAGE Publications Inc., pp. 3–4. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0308022618788785</u>.

Thomure, R. (2023) 'Use of Formal and Informal Strategies to Manage Stress During Level II Occupational Therapy Fieldwork', *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy (OJOT)*, 11(4), pp. 1–9. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.2158</u>.

Tokolahi, E. and Robinson, R. (2021) 'A Scoping Review of Role-Emerging, School-Based Fieldwork Placements in Occupational Therapy Education', *New Zealand Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 68(2), pp. 26–33. Available at:

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,shib&db=cin20&AN=155450374 &site=ehost-live&scope=site&custid=s4653279&authtype=ip,shib.

Volkert, A. and Bannigan, K. (2022) 'The time is now to upscale all placements to a minimum of two students', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 85(7), pp. 475–476. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/03080226221097300</u>.

World Federation of Occupational Therapists (WFOT) (2016) *Minimum standards for the education of occupational therapists.* 3rd edn. Available at: https://wfot.org/resources



Simulated practice-based learning hours (Scope 5)

Bennett, S. *et al.* (2017) 'Simulation in Occupational Therapy Curricula: A literature review,' *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 64(4), pp. 314–327. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12372.

Blodgett, N.P. et al. (2022) 'Developing Virtual Simulations to Confront Racism and Bias in Health Professions Education,' *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 71, pp. 105–111. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2022.03.009.

Bradley, G; Whittington, S, and Mottram, P. (2013) 'Enhancing occupational therapy education through simulation'. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 76(1), 43-46. Available at: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=64dd54c0b22040180bb9a37fc4fb 9f4508f096e1

Chernikova, O. et al. (2020) 'Simulation-Based Learning in Higher Education: A Meta-Analysis,' *Review of Educational Research*, 90(4), pp. 499–541. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654320933544/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/10.3102_0034654320933544-FIG3.JPEG.

Copley, J. et al. (2024) 'Fostering collaborative practice through interprofessional simulation for occupational therapy, physiotherapy, dietetics, and nursing students,' *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 38(3), pp. 534–543. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2024.2303499.

Diaz-Navarro, C., Laws-Chapman, C., Moneypenny, M. and Purva, M. (2023) *The ASPiH Standards* – 2023: guiding simulation-based practice in health and care. Available from https://aspih.org.uk

Fricke, M. et al. (2023) 'Addressing racism in the workplace through simulation: So much to unlearn,' *Frontiers in rehabilitation sciences,* 4, p. 1126085. Available at: https://doi.org/10.3389/fresc.2023.1126085.

Gately, M.E. and Trudeau, S.A. (2024) 'An Online Learning Experience Simulating Video Telehealth with Older Adults: Student Perceptions,' *Journal of technology in behavioral science*, 9, pp. 154–163. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1007/s41347-023-00363-w.

Grant, T. et al. (2021) 'The use of simulation in occupational therapy education: A scoping review,' *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 68(4), pp. 345–356. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12726.

Graves, J. et al. (2020) 'Assessing and improving students' collaborative skills using a mental health simulation: A pilot study,' *Journal of interprofessional care*, pp. 1–4. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2020.1763277.

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) (2023a) *Standards of proficiency for occupational therapists*. Available at: https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-proficiency/occupational-therapists/

Imms, C. et al. (2018) 'Simulated versus traditional occupational therapy placements: A randomised controlled trial,' *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 65(6), pp. 556–564. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12513.

Lalor, A. et al. (2019) 'Occupational therapy international undergraduate students perspectives on the purpose of practice education and what contributes to successful practice learning experiences,'



British Journal of Occupational Therapy, 82(6), pp. 367–375.

Lewis, A., Rudd, C.J. and Mills, B. (2018) 'Working with children with autism: an interprofessional simulation-based tutorial for speech pathology and occupational therapy students,' *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 32(2), pp. 242–244. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2017.1388221.

Machnik, K. et al. (2023) 'Mental Health Simulations in OT Education: A Scoping Review. American Occupational Therapy Association (AOTA) INSPIRE Annual Conference & Expo, April 20-23, 2023, Kansas City, Missouri,' *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 77, p. 1. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2023.77S2-PO167.

MacKenzie, D. et al. (2024) 'Developing pre-licensure interprofessional and stroke care competencies through skills-based simulations,' *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 38(5), pp. 864–874. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2024.2371339.

Miller-Cribbs, J. et al. (2020) 'An evaluation of a simulation and video-based training program to address adverse childhood experiences,' *International Journal of Psychiatry in Medicine*, 55(5), pp. 366–375. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/0091217420951064.

Mills, B. et al. (2020) 'A pilot evaluation of simulation-based interprofessional education for occupational therapy, speech pathology and dietetic students: improvements in attitudes and confidence,' *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 34(4), pp. 472–480. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2019.1659759.

Nash, B. and Etheridge, J. (2023) 'Enhancing Student Self-Efficacy Levels & Recognition of Ethical Behaviors Through Simulation...American Occupational Therapy Association (AOTA) INSPIRE Annual Conference & Expo, April 20-23, 2023, Kansas City, Missouri,' *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 77, p. 1. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2023.77S2-PO140.

Ozelie, R. et al. (2018) 'Hearing Voices Simulation: Impact on Occupational Therapy Students,' *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy* (OJOT), 6(4), pp. 1–11. Available at: https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1452.

Parnell, T. et al. (2024) 'Preparing healthcare professional students for rural, regional and remote practice: demonstrating the effectiveness of an interprofessional simulation learning experience,' *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 38(5), pp. 846–854. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2024.2367424.

Pilcher, J. et al. (2012) 'Special focus on simulation: educational strategies in the NICU: simulationbased learning: it's not just for NRP', *Neonatal network*, 31(5), pp. 281–287. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1891/0730-0832.31.5.281.

Roberts, F.E. and Goodhand, K. (2018) 'Scottish healthcare student's perceptions of an interprofessional ward simulation: An exploratory, descriptive study,' *Nursing & health sciences*, 20(1), pp. 107–115. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/nhs.12393.

Rowe, V., Millard, E. and Clarkson, C. (2019) "Stat!' Acute Care With OT, Physical Therapy, and Nursing: Interprofessional Simulation With Peer Teaching...American Occupational Therapy Association Annual Conference & Expo, April 4-7, 2019, New Orleans, Louisiana,' *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 73, p. 1. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2019.73S1-PO2020.

Smith, L.M. et al. (2024) 'Implementation and Mixed-Methods Assessment of an Early Mobility



Interprofessional Education Simulation,' *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 43(3), pp. 158–167. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.00000000000634.

Walls, D., Gillard, M. and Davis, K. (2024) 'Current Trends in the Use of Simulation in OT Programs,' The American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 78(2), pp. 7811500151p1-7811500151p1. Available at: https://doi.org/10.5014/AJOT.2024.78S2-PO151.

Washington, V.L. et al. (2022) Blending interprofessional education and simulation learning: A mixed-methods study of an interprofessional learning experience with nursing and occupational therapy students," Journal of Interprofessional Care, 36(2), pp. 276–281. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2021.1897552.

Watts, P.I. et al. (2021) 'Onward and Upward: Introducing the Healthcare Simulation Standards of Best PracticeTM', Clinical Simulation in Nursing, 58, pp. 1–4. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecns.2021.08.006.

World Federation of Occupational Therapists (WFOT) (2016) Minimum standards for the education of occupational therapists. 3rd edn. Available at: https://wfot.org/resources

World Health Organisation for Europe (2018) Simulation in nursing and midwifery education. In: WHO, ed. Available at: https://www.who.int/europe/publications/i/item/WHO-EURO-2018-3296-43055-60253



Scope 6: Assessment

American Occupational Therapy Association (2022) Standards for Continuing Competence in Occupational Therapy. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *75(Supp.3)*, *pp. 1-9*. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2021.75S3009</u>.

Beamish, N. *et al.* (2024) 'Rehabilitation professions' core competencies for entry-level professionals: a thematic analysis', *Journal of Interprofessional Care*, 38(1), pp. 32–41. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2023.2241519</u>.

Casto, S.C. *et al.* (2021) 'Standards of Practice for Occupational Therapy', *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 76. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/AJOT.2021.75S3004</u>.

Daly, M.M. *et al.* (2024) 'Use of a Faculty-Led Journal Club to Facilitate Evidence-Based Practice Skills for Occupational Therapy Students', *Occupational Therapy in Health Care*, 38(2), pp. 485–494. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/07380577.2022.2098547</u>.

Dove, E. *et al.* (2024) 'Gross and Applied Anatomy Pedagogical Approaches in Occupational Therapy Education: A Scoping Review', *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 91(2), pp. 136–148. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00084174231197614</u>.

'Educator's Guide for Addressing Cultural Awareness, Humility, and Dexterity in Occupational Therapy Curricula' (2020) *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 74, pp. 1–19. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2020.74S3005</u>.

Graves, J. *et al.* (2020) 'Assessing and improving students' collaborative skills using a mental health simulation: A pilot study', *Journal of interprofessional care*, pp. 1–4. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2020.1763277</u>.

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC) (2023a) *Standards of proficiency for occupational therapists*. Available at: https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-proficiency/occupational-therapists/

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC). (2023b). *Standards of education and training*. London: HCPC. Available at: <u>https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-relevant-to-education-and-training/set/</u>

Health Education England (2022). Allied Health Professions Education and Training Framework. NHS England. Available

at: https://www.hee.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/documents/AHP_Framework.pdf

Higher Education England (2021) *HEE Quality Framework from 2021*. Available at: <u>www.hee.nhs.uk</u>.

Imms, C. *et al.* (2018) 'Simulated versus traditional occupational therapy placements: A randomised controlled trial', *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 65(6), pp. 556–564. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12513</u>.

Kale, S., Kamble, M.W. and Spalding, N. (2020) 'Predictive validity of multiple mini interview scores for future academic and clinical placement performance in physiotherapy, occupational therapy and speech and language therapy programmes', *International Journal of Therapy & Rehabilitation*, 27(4), pp. 1–13. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2018.0149</u>.



Lavin, K.A. (2018) 'Use of a Journal Club During Level II Fieldwork to Facilitate Confidence and Skills for Evidence-Based Practice', *Open Journal of Occupational Therapy (OJOT)*, 6(4), pp. 1–8. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.15453/2168-6408.1475</u>.

NHS Council of Deans for Health (2023) 'AHP Educator Career Framework'. Available at: https://advanced-practice.hee.nhs.uk/multi-professional.

American Occupational Therapy Association (2021) 'Occupational Therapy Curriculum Design Framework' *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 75, pp. 1–39. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2021.75S3008</u>.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021a) *Career Development Framework: Guiding Principles for Occupational Therapy*. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021b) *Professional standards for occupational therapy, practice, conduct and ethics.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024a) *Equity, Diversity and Belonging Strategy 2024-2027.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024b) *Occupational Therapy Workforce Strategy* 2024–2035. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2025) *Occupational Therapy Research and Innovation Strategy.* London: RCOT.

Rowe, P. (2021) 'A formulation and critical evaluation of an interpersonal communication skills. Objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) in pre-registration occupational therapy education', *Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering*, 82(10-), p. No-Specified. Available at:

http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=psyc20&NEWS=N&AN=2021-50287-180.

Smith, L.M. *et al.* (2024) 'Implementation and Mixed-Methods Assessment of an Early Mobility Interprofessional Education Simulation', *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 43(3), pp. 158–167. Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/DCC.0000000000634</u>.

World Federation of Occupational Therapists (WFOT) (2016) *Minimum standards for the education of occupational therapists*. 3rd edn. Available at: https://wfot.org/resources



Scope 7: Early career support

Bimpong, K. *et al.* (2020) 'Job satisfaction and burnout among occupational therapists in the UK: a cross-sectional survey', *Journal of Mental Health*, 29(4), pp. 419–426.

Cade, E.E. (2023) 'A propensity to thrive: Understanding individual difference, resilience and entrepreneurship in developing competence and professional identity', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 86(1), pp. 25–35. doi:10.1177/03080226231169825.

Curtis, K. *et al.* (2024) 'Preparedness for practice among newly qualified allied health professionals: a systematic review', *British Journal of Healthcare Management*, 30(1), pp. 22–33.

Edge Foundation (2024) *What Makes an Effective Work-Based Mentor in Allied Health Professions: Perceptions and Expectations.* London: Edge Foundation. Available at: https://www.edge.co.uk.

Health and Care Professions Council (2023a) *Standards of Proficiency: Occupational Therapists*. London: HCPC. Available at: https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-of-proficiency/occupational-therapists/

Health and Care Professions Council (HCPC). (2023b). *Standards of education and training*. London: HCPC. Available at: <u>https://www.hcpc-uk.org/standards/standards-relevant-to-education-and-training/set/</u>

Health and Care Professions Council (2023c) *Principles for preceptorship*. London: HCPC. Available at: https://www.hcpc-uk.org/news-and-events/news/2023/the-hcpc-publishes-its-principles-for-preceptorship/

Health Education England (2018) *Reducing Pre-registration Attrition and Improving Retention* (*RePAIR*). London: HEE.

Health Education England (2022) *AHP Preceptorship Standards and Framework*. London: HEE. Available at: https://www.hee.nhs.uk/our-work/allied-health-professions/ahp-preceptorship-framework.

Kent, F. *et al.* (2017) "More effort and more time." Considerations in the establishment of interprofessional education programs in the workplace. *Journal of Interprofessional Care*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13561820.2017.1381076

King, G., Tam, C., Fay, L., Pilkington, M., Servais, M., & Petrosian, H. (2011). 'Evaluation of an occupational therapy mentorship program: Effects on therapists' skills and family-centered behavior.' *Physical & Occupational Therapy in Pediatrics*, 31(3), 245–262. https://doi.org/10.3109/01942638.2011.572149

Mizzi, L. and Marshall, P. (2024) 'Inequitable barriers and opportunities for leadership and professional development, identified by early-career to mid-career allied health professionals', *BMJ leader*, 8(3), pp. 245–252. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1136/leader-2023-000880.

NHS England (2020) We are the NHS: People Plan 2020/21. London: NHS England.

NHS England (2022) *National Preceptorship Framework for Nursing.* Available at: https://workforceskills.nhs.uk/projects/nhse-i-national-preceptorship-programme-2022/. London: NHS England.



NHS Education for Scotland (n.d) *Flying Start NHS*®: *National Development Programme for Newly Qualified Practitioners*. Available at: https://learn.nes.nhs.scot/735/flying-start-nhs

Nuffield Trust (2023) *Workforce retention: what does the data tell us*? Available at: <u>https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk</u>.

Oldenburg, H., Hake, M. and Rindflesch, A. (2023) 'What students say to be ready for acute care: Implications for preceptors'. *The Clinical Teacher*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/tct.13638.

Porter, S. and Lexén, A. (2022) 'Job retention and satisfaction among occupational therapists: a review of influencing factors', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 85(10), pp. 707–715.

Robertson, L.J. and Griffiths, S. (2009) 'Graduates' reflections on their preparation for practice', *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 72(3), pp. 125–132. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1177/030802260907200307.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021a) *Career Development Framework: Guiding Principles for Occupational Therapy.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2021b) *Professional standards for occupational therapy, practice, conduct and ethics.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2023) *Supporting Early Career Occupational Therapists.* Available at: https://www.rcot.co.uk/practice-resources/supporting-early-career. London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024a) *Equity, Diversity and Belonging Strategy 2024-2027.* London: RCOT.

Royal College of Occupational Therapists (2024b) *Occupational Therapy Workforce Strategy* 2024–2035. London: RCOT.

Sjöberg, P. and Lexén, A. (2024) Transitioning from an occupational therapy student to a clinically competent occupational therapist - A qualitative study', *Scandinavian Journal of occupational therapy*, 2024(1), p. 23. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/11038128.2024.2398498.

Stirling, V. *et al.* (2024) 'What are the experiences, preparation, and support needs of early career clinical educators within an Australian tertiary health service?: a qualitative study', *BMC medical education*, 24(1), p. 664. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-024-05652-3.

Suleman, S. *et al.* (2021) 'Work readiness in rehabilitation medicine: A qualitative exploration and framework', *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, 28(10). Available at: https://doi.org/10.12968/ijtr.2020.0051.

Turpin, M. *et al.* (2020) 'Experiences of and support for the transition to practice of newly graduated occupational therapists undertaking a hospital graduate Program'. *Australian Journal of Occupational Therapy*. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1111/1440-1630.12693.